Title: Optimizing Veteran-Centered Prostate Cancer Survivorship Care (Phase B)

Funding Source: VA Health Services Research and Development

Principal Investigator/Study Chair: Sarah Hawley

June 14, 2017

Abstract

Provide a summary of the study (less than 500 words).

<u>Background:</u> Although there are over 200,000 prostate cancer survivors in the VA, there has been little research to understand and improve survivorship care for this large population of Veterans. A substantial proportion of prostate cancer survivors in the general population have significant side effects from treatment (surgery or radiation therapy) that often persist for years, including incontinence, erectile dysfunction, and metabolic syndrome, all of which can contribute to decreased quality of life. Our pilot data suggests that VA prostate cancer survivors experience similar or worse symptom burden to that of the general population of survivors. This is particularly unfortunate since many of these symptoms can be effectively self-managed. Furthermore, there is no program in the VA for assessing ongoing symptom burden in survivors and directing them to receive appropriate primary or specialty care if needed.

Objectives: To address the need to improve patient-centered survivorship care management for Veterans with prostate cancer, we propose a 4 year study with two aims: 1) to conduct a randomized controlled trial to compare a personally tailored automated telephone symptom management intervention for improving symptoms and symptom self-management to usual care. We expect that those in the intervention group will have more confidence in symptom self-management and better symptom self-management and prostate cancer quality of life following the intervention, and that these outcomes will translate to more efficient use of services for these Veterans, and 2) to compare utilization of services among those in the intervention group to those in the control group.

Methods: We will conduct a RCT of prostate cancer survivors at 4 VHA sites (Ann Arbor, Cleveland, Pittsburgh and St. Louis) who are 1-10 years post-treatment. Those with clinically meaningful symptom burden identified using an established measure of prostate cancer symptom burden will be invited to the study, verbally consented and randomized to the automated telephone system or enhanced usual care (information about self-management). We will evaluate the impact of the intervention on confidence in symptom self-management as well as actual symptom burden and prostate cancer quality of life 5- and 12-months following enrollment. We will evaluate utilization of services 9-12 months post-enrollment using medical record/CPRS data sources. Finally, we will conduct a small process evaluation that will help us to better understand which elements of the intervention were effective, and will work with our primary care partners to make a recommendation for a broader deployment of an automated symptom self-management program in the VHA.

Our study will provide much needed information about how to optimize the quality of care and quality of life of Veterans who are survivors of prostate cancer. The randomized trial will evaluate innovative information for assessing and improving symptom burden and self-management of prostate-related symptom burden in these survivors. We will further understand how symptom burden is associated with use of appropriate services in the VHA. Finally, we will work with our primary care partners to inform how to improve survivorship care for this large and growing population of Veterans.

List of Abbreviations

Provide a list of all abbreviations used in the protocol and their associated meanings.

VA - Veterans Affairs

VHA – Veterans Health Administration

AE- Adverse Events

AAVA-Ann Arbor VA

CHCR - University of Michigan Center for Health Communications Research

CDW - Corporate Data Warehouse

CPRS - Computerized Patient Record System

EPIC – Expanded Prostate Cancer Index Composite

IVR- Interactive Voice Response

MTS- Michigan Tailoring System

PACT- Patient Aligned Care Team

PC - Prostate Cancer

PCP - Primary Care Physician

PEPPI -- Perceived Efficacy in Patient-Physician Interactions

PHI- Protected Health Information

QOL- Quality of Life

RCT - Randomized Controlled Trial

SAE - Serious Adverse Event

SAS- Statistical Analysis Software

SD- Standard Deviation

SEER- Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results registries (National Cancer Institute)

UAPs - Unanticipated Problems

VA - Veterans Affairs

VHA – Veterans Health Administration

Contents

Abstra	act	2
List of	f Abbreviations	3
1.0	Study Personnel	5
2.0	Introduction	8
3.0	Objectives	9
4.0	Resources and Personnel	9
5.0	Study Procedures	12
5.1	Study Design	12
5.2	Recruitment Methods	16
5.4	Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	18
5.5	Study Evaluations	18
5.6	Data Analysis	20
5.7	Withdrawal of Subjects	22
6.0	Reporting	22
7.0	Privacy and Confidentiality	23
8.0	Communication Plan	24
9.0	References	25

Protocol Title:

Optimizing Veteran-Centered Prostate Cancer Survivorship Care (Phase B)

1.0 Study Personnel

Provide name, contact information, and affiliations/employee status for the following:

Principal Investigator/Study Chair:

Sarah T. Hawley, PhD, MPH

Research Investigator, VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-936-8816 Fax: 734-222-7503

Email: Sarah.Hawley@va.gov

Co-Investigators:

Angela Fagerlin, PhD

Research Investigator, VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-936-8944 Fax: 734-936-8944

Email: fagerlin@umich.edu

Jeffrey Gingrich, MD

Chief of Urology, VA Pittsburgh Healthcare System Address: 7180 Highland Drive, Pittsburg, PA 15206

Phone: 866-482-7488

Email: Jeffrey.gingrich@va.gov

Robert Grubb, MD

Surgical Staff Physician, St. Louis VA Medical Center

Address: 915 N. Grand Blvd.

St. Louis, MO 63106

Phone: 314-652-4100 ext. 3356 Email: grubbr@wudosis.wustl.edu

Timothy Hofer, MD

Research Investigator, VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-845-3615 Fax: 734-222-7503 Email: tim.hofer@va.gov Laura Damschroder, MPH

Research Investigator, VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-845-3603 Fax: 734-222-7503

Email: <u>laura.damschroder@va.gov</u>

Bruce Ling, MD

Staff Physician, VA Pittsburgh Healthcare System

Address: 7180 Highland Drive, Bld 2 (151C-H), Room 4986E, Pittsburgh, PA 15206

Phone: 412-954-5234 Email: lingbs@upmc.edu

John Piette, PhD

Senior Career Scientist, VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-845-3626 Fax: 734-222-7503

Email: jpiette@umich.edu

Ted Skolarus, MD

Research Investigator, VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-936-7030 Fax: 734-222-7503

Email: tskolar@umich.edu

Collaborators:

John Wei

Professor of Urology, University of Michigan Medical Center

Address: 1500 East Medical Center Drive, Room 1013, Women's Trailer, Ann Arbor MI 48109

Phone: 734-615-3040 Fax: 734-936-9536 Email: jtwei@umich.edu

Study Staff:

Tabitha Metreger

Project Manager, Center for Clinical Management Research

Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-845-3624 Fax: 734-222-7503

Email: Tabitha.Metreger@va.gov

Soohyun Hwang, MPH

Research Assistant, Center for Clinical Management Research

Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-222-7435 Fax: 734-222-7503

E-mail: Ariel.Hwang@va.gov

Jennifer Davis

Data Manager, Center for Clinical Management Research Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-845-3607 Fax: 734-222-7503

E-mail: Jennifer.Davis@va.gov

Leah Gillon

Data Manager (back-up), Center for Clinical Management Research

Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-845-3640 Fax: 734-222-7503

E-mail: Leah.Gillon@va.gov

Jordan Sparks

Qualitative Data Analyst, Center for Clinical Management Research

Address: 2215 Fuller Road, 152, Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Phone: 734-845-3932 Fax: 734-222-7503

E-mail: Jordan.Sparks2@va.gov

Karen Breisinger Smith

Research Assistant, VA Pittsburgh Healthcare System

Address: University Drive C-151CT-U, Pittsburgh, PA 15240

Phone: 412-360-2410 Fax: 412-360-6199

E-mail: Karen.Smith50@va.gov

Barbara (Fink) Miller, MS, CCRP

Clinical Trial Safety Specialist, VA Pittsburgh Healthcare System

Address: University Drive C (151CT), Pittsburgh, PA 15240

Phone: 412-360-6998 Fax: 412-360-6199

E-mail: Barbara.Miller33@va.gov

Samantha A. Bonant, MS

Supervisor & Regulatory Coordinator, VA Pittsburgh Healthcare System

Address: University Drive C (151 CT-U), Pittsburgh, PA 15240

Phone: 412-360-3788 Fax: 412-360-6199

E-mail: Samantha.Bonant@va.gov

Mirela Grabic

Research Assistant, VA St. Louis Healthcare System

Address: 915 N. Grand Blvd.

St. Louis, MO 63106 Phone: 314-289-633

Email: Mirela.Grabic@va.gov

2.0 Introduction

Provide scientific background and rationale for study.

Prostate cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer in Veterans. Over 12,000 Veterans will be diagnosed with prostate cancer in 2012 to join more than 200,000 current prostate cancer (PC) survivors, making these patients one of the largest populations in the Veterans Administration Healthcare System (VA). Data from numerous studies in the general population and our own pilot work clearly show that many Veterans with PC suffer with high symptom burden for years following their treatment, and that these symptoms contribute to poor disease specific, and overall, QOL. Our study is based on a conceptual framework for describing how self-management can work to improve outcomes for cancer survivors, including both proximal outcomes (reducing symptom burden and improving disease specific QOL) as well as longer term outcomes (subjective health and cancer outlook). Veterans in our pilot study expressed strong interest in receiving assistance with symptom management, and many of them successfully used a prototype automated telephone system in an effort to do so. Improving these outcomes is likely to translate into better Veteran-centered care for survivors of prostate cancer, one of the largest patient groups within the VA.

Include summary of gaps in current knowledge, relevant data, and how the study will add to existing knowledge.

Although there are over 200,000 prostate cancer survivors in the VA, there has been little research to understand and improve survivorship care for this large population of Veterans. A substantial proportion of prostate cancer survivors in the general population have significant side effects from treatment (surgery or radiation therapy) that often persist for years, including incontinence, erectile dysfunction, and metabolic syndrome, all of which can contribute to decreased quality of life. Our pilot data suggests that VA prostate cancer survivors experience similar or worse symptom burden to that of the general population of survivors. This is particularly unfortunate since many of these symptoms can be effectively self-managed. Furthermore, there is no program in the VA for assessing ongoing symptom burden in survivors and directing them to receive appropriate primary or specialty care if needed.

To address the need to improve patient-centered survivorship care management for Veterans with prostate cancer, we propose a 4 year study with two aims: 1) to conduct a randomized controlled trial to compare a personally tailored automated telephone symptom management intervention for improving symptoms and symptom self-management to usual care. We expect that those in the intervention group will have more confidence in symptom self-management and better symptom self-management and prostate cancer quality of life following the intervention, and that these outcomes will translate to more efficient use of services for these Veterans, and 2) to compare utilization of services among those in the intervention group to those in the control group.

Our study will provide much needed information about how to optimize the quality of care and quality of life of Veterans who are survivors of prostate cancer. The randomized trial will evaluate innovative information for assessing and improving symptom burden and self-management of prostate-related symptom burden in these survivors. We will further understand how symptom burden is associated with use of appropriate services in the VHA. Finally, we will work with our primary care partners to inform how to improve survivorship care for this large and growing population of Veterans.

Include rationale for including or excluding certain populations – in particular vulnerable populations.

Veteran participants: Women are excluded as this is a condition found only in men.

3.0 Objectives

Describe the study's purpose, specific aims, or objectives.

The specific aims are:

- 1) To conduct a randomized controlled trial among PC survivors with high symptom burden comparing the impact of this personalized intervention for improving symptoms and symptom self-management to nonpersonalized information. We hypothesize that relative to controls, 5- and 12- months post-enrollment, Veterans in the intervention group will: 1) have higher confidence about symptom self-management; and 2) report lower symptom burden and better disease-specific QOL. We further hypothesize that at the 12-month assessment point, the intervention group will have higher scores on two key psychosocial indicators (subjective health and perceived cancer control) than the control group.
- 2) To determine the intervention's impact on the use of primary and specialty VA services. We hypothesize that relative to controls, 12 months after enrollment, Veterans in the intervention group will have a higher rate of symptom-specific service use that is consistent with Michigan Cancer Consortium recommendations for prostate cancer survivorship care, which are expert and evidence-based. This project could have a significant positive impact on the lives of the large and growing population of Veterans who are PC survivors experiencing post-treatment symptoms. Data from our preliminary work suggest that many of these survivors continue to suffer with high symptom burden years after treatment, report wanting to participate in self-management interventions, and that an automated telephone system is feasible and potentially effective. Our team has extensive expertise in the development and deployment of highly personalized, automated interventions for improving self-management in the VA, as well as the clinical and health services research expertise to successfully implement and complete the study. We have the support of the Office of Specialty Care/Patient Care Services as well as the VA Ann Arbor PACT (Patient Aligned Care Team) Laboratory. To ensure that the trial has the greatest possible impact on VA care, we will conduct a process evaluation to determine how the intervention can best optimize the quality of life and survivorship care for Veterans with prostate cancer and inform program implementation with our primary care partners.

State the hypotheses to be tested.

We hypothesize that relative to controls, 5- and 12- months post-enrollment, Veterans in the intervention group will: 1) have higher confidence about symptom self-management; and 2) report lower symptom burden and better disease-specific QOL. We further hypothesize that at the 12-month assessment point, the intervention group will have higher scores on two key psychosocial indicators (subjective health and perceived cancer control) than the control group.

4.0 Resources and Personnel

Include where and by whom the research will be conducted.

This study will be conducted by local coordinators in three sites: the VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System (VAAAHS), the VA Pittsburgh Healthcare System (VAPHS) and the St. Louis VA Medical Center (SLVAMS). The coordinating site will be the VAAAHS, where the PI and most of the research team are located. Each site has experience in the conduct of research, and sufficient numbers of PC survivors from which to identify participants for both phases of our study. VAPHS and SLVAMS sites each offer significant numbers of potentially eligible survivors who are racial/ethnic minority Veterans, especially African Americans who have a higher rate of PC. The coordinators from these three sites will also recruit patients from an additional site, the Louis Stokes Cleveland VA Medical Center (LSCVAMC) (this site will not have an assigned LSI or local coordinator).

 Provide a brief description of each individual's role in the study. Be sure to indicate who will have access to protected health information and who will be involved in recruiting subjects; obtaining informed consent; administering survey/interview procedures; and performing data analysis.

AAVA Study Staff:

Dr. Hawley will be responsible for the implementation of the scientific agenda, the leadership plan and the specific aims, and ensure that systems are in place to guarantee institutional compliance. She will oversee all aims of the study working in conjunction with the multidisciplinary team. Dr. Hawley will be responsible for ensuring all IRB approvals are obtained. She will oversee the coordination at the Ann Arbor site working directly with the project manager. For aim 1, Dr. Hawley will direct the RCT, utilizing her experience in conducting large scale RCTs in and outside the VA. She will work with the study co-investigators and site Pls on deployment of the RCT at the 3 sites. Dr. Hawley will oversee the collection of utilization data for Aim 2 and the development of the outcome measures. For aim 3, Dr. Hawley will work with Dr. Damschroder and the other investigators to conduct the process evaluation. For all aims, she will lend HSR/analytic expertise to direct data management and will lead analysis and interpretation of results, with the assistance of Dr. Kim. Dr. Hawley will lead regular meetings with local co-investigators and in-person or video conference meetings with sites on regular intervals (see timeline).

Dr. Hofer will lend his expertise as a primary care physician specifically to the process evaluation component and recommendations for broader scale implementation of the automated telephone system intervention through primary care services. Dr. Hofer will also participate in overall data analysis and interpretation of results.

Dr. Piette will assist with refinement and piloting of survey measures to assess aim 1 outcomes related to implementation of self-management. He will also participate in the evaluation of process evaluation data, and overall data interoperation.

Dr. Skolarus will interact with the site PIs of St. Louis and Pittsburgh regarding clinical issues in deployment of the survey and/or intervention. Dr. Skolarus will lend his prior expertise in development of the automated telephone system prototype intervention to refinement of the tool for this study. He will participate in the aim 3 process evaluating by traveling with Dr. Hawley to St. Louis and Pittsburgh to interview prostate cancer specialists at each site. He will also participate in data analysis and interpretation of results.

Dr. Fagerlin will lend expertise regarding refinement of the automated telephone system tool, focusing on ensuring both are appropriate for Veterans with low literacy levels. She will provide content expertise for the tool regarding how to assess key side effects related to prostate cancer treatment.

Ms. Damschroder will work directly with Dr. Hawley to oversee the process evaluation proposed in this study.

Jordan Sparks (Qualitative Data Analyst). (3 CM Yr 4 only). Ms. Sparks will provide expertise during the final year of the study to conduct the qualitative evaluation of the transcripts obtained from the patient and key stakeholder process evaluation interviews. This person will work under the guidance of Ms. Damschroder under the direction of Dr. Hawley to generate themes and issues from the interviews for review by the study team.

Tabitha Metreger, MA (project manager) This person will coordinate this proposed study, including working with the study team to manage meetings, working with Ms. Davis to direct data management and patient identification needs, and working with Dr. Hawley and the site Pls to oversee the activities of the research coordinators at each site, including data transfers, maintaining follow up records, and initiating contact for the RCT. She will coordinate all IRB submissions for the project, assisting site coordinators as needed.

Jennifer Davis, MHSA (Data manager) The project data manager will use data from the VA Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW) to identify potentially eligible patients. The data manager maintains these files. Survey data will be entered by the coordinator into an ACCESS database stored in an access restricted study folder on a secure server behind the VA firewall. Survey data will be linked to data obtained from the automated telephone system and to utilization data collected from CDW and the National Patient Prosthetics Database (NPPD) from Patient Care Services 12 months following enrollment. All datasets will be stored and merged in an access restricted study folder behind the VA firewall for analysis by VAAAHS study staff.

Leah Gillon (Back-up Data Manager) Ms. Gillon will serve as back-up data manager for the study in the event Ms. Davis is unable to perform her duties. Ms. Gillon may also assist with creation, refinement and maintenance of study ACCESS databases.

Soohyun Hwang (Research Coordinator) This position will pertain to intervention related tasks under the direction of Dr. Hawley and the project manager at the coordinating site (Ms. Metreger). Ms. Hwang's main task during year 1 and into year 2 will be participant recruitment and coordinating and implementing the survey telephone follow-up. After phase 1 is complete, the research coordinator will be responsible for contact of Veterans interested in the RCT, eligibility confirmation, and enrollment into the RCT. She will be responsible for collecting data about those eligible for the RCT and entering it into the CHCR secure website and downloading the IVR data to the study folder behind the VA firewall on a regular basis (to be directed by the Project Manager).

Karen Breisinger (Research Coordinator) This position will pertain to intervention related tasks under the direction of Dr. Gingrich and the project manager at the coordinating site (Ms. Metreger). Ms. Breisinger's main task during year 1 and into year 2 will be participant recruitment and coordinating and implementing the survey telephone follow-up. After phase 1 is complete, the research coordinator will be responsible for contact of Veterans interested in the RCT, eligibility confirmation, and enrollment into the RCT. She will be responsible for collecting data about those eligible for the RCT and entering it into the CHCR secure website and downloading the IVR data to the study folder behind the VA firewall on a regular basis (to be directed by the Project Manager).

Mirela Grabic (Research Coordinator) This position will pertain to intervention related tasks under the direction of Dr. Grubb and the project manager at the coordinating site (Ms. Metreger). Ms. Grabic's main tasks will be participant recruitment and coordinating and implementing the survey telephone follow-up. The research coordinator will be responsible for contact of Veterans interested in the RCT, eligibility confirmation, and enrollment into the RCT. She will be responsible for collecting data about those eligible for the RCT and entering it into the CHCR secure website and downloading the IVR data to the study folder behind the VA firewall on a regular basis (to be directed by the Project Manager).

 If applicable provide information on any services that will be performed by contractors including what is being contracted out and with whom.

Hosting of the IVR system and tailoring for the newsletter will be performed by the University of Michigan's Center for Health Communications Research (CHCR), an NCI-designated Center of Excellence in Cancer Communications Research. This project will benefit from the CHCR-developed Michigan Tailoring System (MTS), an open source technical platform that promotes ease of authoring and dissemination of tailored programs. Information entered into the automated telephone monitoring system by the patient will be merged with basic information obtained about the patient from VA's Patient Care Database and from the baseline survey (specifically name, address, telephone number, age, ethnicity, marital/relationship status, prostate cancer treatment type, initial diagnosis date, service branch VA Site, and PEPPI scores). This information will be entered by project staff into a secure website on a CHCR UM web server that meets all VA criteria for confidential data transfer and is FIPS 140-2 compliant. Collectively, this information will be used to generate an MTS dataset that will be used to generate the newsletters. Newsletters will be 4 to 8 pages in length: untailored newsletters will be 4 pages; the initial tailored newsletter will be 8 pages and all subsequent newsletters will be 4 pages unless patients select a new symptom area to focus on, in which case they will receive another 8 page newsletter. The CHCR team at the University of Michigan will have access to identifiable information; however, we are in the process of obtaining a data use agreement and all CHCR staff assigned to work on this project have completed the WOC process mandatory training including VA Privacy and Information Security Awareness and Rules of Behavior and Privacy and HIPAA Training.

 If applicable provide information on any Memoranda of Understandings (MOUs) or Data Use Agreements (DUAs) that are being entered into including with whom and for what reason.

We have obtained Data Use Agreements between CHCR and VAAAHS, VAPHS and VASTL.

5.0 Study Procedures

5.1 Study Design

 Describe experimental design of the study. Include sequential and/or parallel phases of the study, including durations, and explain which interventions are standard of care.

Through a randomized controlled trial, we propose to evaluate the effectiveness of a personally tailored, automated prostate cancer (PC) symptom self-management intervention, compared to enhanced usual care. Participants randomized to the intervention arm will receive automated telephone monitoring and personally tailored newsletters. Participants randomized to the control condition will receive standard care plus information about symptom self-management at the time of enrollment. Participants in both arms will also be asked to complete surveys by phone.

There are three primary Veteran-reported trial outcomes which will be measured at 5- and 12-months post enrollment: 1) confidence in symptom self-management, 2) implementation of symptom self-management, and 3) symptom burden and PC-QOL. Self-efficacy in patient-physician interactions will also be assessed at baseline, 5months and 12-months. Participants in the trial will be randomized by computer by VA Ann Arbor Healthcare System (VAAAHS) study staff. We hypothesize better outcomes in the intervention arm relative to enhanced usual care. The impact of the intervention on two secondary psychosocial outcomes, overall subjective health and perceptions of cancer control, will be assessed only at the 12-month time point, when we believe the intervention is most likely to have had its impact on these outcomes. The trial will be conducted in four VA sites (Ann Arbor, Cleveland, Pittsburgh, and St. Louis) with a large and racial/ethnically diverse population of PC survivors between 1-10 years post-treatment. The intervention is based on a conceptual framework that describes how selfmanagement contributes to positive outcomes for cancer patients and survivors; we also will utilize theoretical constructs from patient empowerment and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) to inform the content of our intervention. We will compare the quality of health care received in intervention and control subjects using quidelines for prostate cancer survivorship care developed by the Michigan Cancer Consortium as a benchmark. Finally, we will prepare for implementation of the intervention on a broader scale through a formative evaluation. This design will allow us to understand how the intervention can best optimize the quality of life and quality of care for Veterans with PC, and will inform how to implement the program more broadly with our primary care partners.

• Include a description of how anticipated risk will be minimized and include an analysis of risk vs. potential benefit.

How anticipated risk will be minimized:

Veteran participants:

Psychological: The introductory letter and screening process aren't done by a caregiver, reducing the risk of coercion. Additionally, an opt-out telephone number is provided, and those who do not opt-out will be told they are under no obligation to participate, and their care will not be affected by their decision to participate or not participate, at the beginning of the screening call. (We have chosen an opt-out recruitment procedure as this type of strategy is approved by our local IRB and has worked well in helping projects meet recruitment goals. In a previous 2-site randomized controlled trial aimed at increasing colorectal cancer screening led by the investigator, the opt-out strategy translated into significantly higher rates of enrollment. Recruitment occurred within the primary care clinic at two VA medical centers from February 2009 to June 2011. At Site 1, an opt-in strategy was initially adopted. After nine months, recruitment was modified to an opt-out approach. At Site 2, an opt-out strategy was utilized throughout. At Site 1, during the opt-in period, 756 mailings were sent of which 32 subsequently enrolled into the study (4.2%), compared to 106 of 934 potentially eligible subjects during the opt-out period (11.1%, P <0.001). The enrollment rate at Site 2 (opt-out throughout) was 15% (339/2210). Without modifying Site 1's strategy to an opt-out procedure, the study was in danger of not meeting recruitment goals. Hence, we feel the use of opt-out recruitment procedures should be permitted for studies involving minimal risk.)

Participants will be instructed they are free to skip any survey questions administered by study staff that they would prefer not to answer. However, questions administered by the automated telephone system are not

optional. Participants will be told that they may withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. Consistent with the literature and our team's previous experience providing decision aids to study participants undergoing cancer screening, Veterans tend to respond positively to research that seeks to improve the quality of care via educational materials by asking them about their treatment experiences. However, if a potential study participant verbalizes the need for support or wants further clarification of any issue during the screening call, a study investigator will address the concern in a sensitive and professional manner (i.e., by calling the participant directly and/or recommending follow up with his primary care provider).

Social/legal: we believe that risk of a breach of confidentiality is low. Throughout the study, IRB and HIPPA quidelines will be followed to ensure the privacy and integrity of the information we collect. Any breach will be immediately reported to the PI and the appropriate IRBs. In addition, any complaints/concerns expressed to the study staff by participants, providers, or anyone else affected by this study will be immediately reported to the PI and IRB, as will any unexpected events. To minimize the risk of a breach of confidentiality, we will perform the following steps. First, as soon as the cohort is defined by the data manager, each patient in the cohort will be assigned a unique study ID. We will then create an electronic tracking file on an access-restricted secure drive behind the VA firewall that maps the study participant's identifying information to the study ID. No identifying information will be placed on data collection forms (e.g. surveys). Identifiers of potential recruits and study participants will be maintained to allow for follow-up contacts during the data collection phase. These will be kept in study folders accessible only by study staff and will be destroyed according to VHA Records Control Schedule 10-1 (RCS 10-1) once direction for destruction of research records is published by VHA. Electronic data will be maintained in access-restricted study folders on a secure VA server behind the VA firewall maintained by the Ann Arbor coordinating center. All identifiable data will be kept behind the firewall, with access only available to key study team members. The data manager will be responsible for creating analytic datasets for statisticians and investigators; these datasets will be de-identified per HIPAA guidelines. All resulting research data will be presented in aggregate only. Furthermore, study staff sign a pledge of confidentiality and understand that breach of confidentiality is grounds for dismissal. Study staff are required to complete annual training on privacy and HIPPA, as well as biannual training on human subjects protection.

In order to receive the IVR calls, participants must be willing to have study staff enter their name, address, telephone number, age, ethnicity, marital/relationship status, prostate cancer treatment type, initial diagnosis date, service branch VA Site, and PEPPI scores onto a secure, password-protected website hosted by CHCR at the University of Michigan. The CHCR team at the University of Michigan will have access to this information; however, we are in the process of obtaining revised data use agreements. CHCR has extensive expertise in the protection of personal information and follows strict data security protocols. Also, all CHCR staff assigned to work on this project have completed the WOC process mandatory training including VA Privacy and Information Security Awareness and Rules of Behavior and Privacy and HIPAA Training.

The website used to transfer data to CHCR will be protected by a **Transport Layer Security (TLS) protocol**, ensuring that all data transmissions between a user's browser and the web server are encrypted and are therefore secure. The Transport Layer Security (TLS) protocol in use on the website supports both 128-bit and 256-bit encryption, depending on the user's browser. In addition, FIPS 140-2 validated software, specifically OpenSSL and dm-crypt with a FIPS-mode enabled Linux kernel, will be used to store the encrypted data. All VHA data and derivative data must be stored in an encrypted partition on the Requestor's or its contractors/subcontractors information system hard drive using **FIPS 140-2 validated software**. (See http://csrc.nist.gov/groups/STM/cmvp/validation.html for a complete list of validated cryptographic modules). The application must be capable of key recovery and a copy of the encryption key(s) must be stored in multiple secure locations. FIPS 140-2 (or current version) compliant / NIST validated encryption will be used to secure VHA data stored on any portable drives, IT components, disks, CD's / DVD's.

Data at CHCR will be stored on web servers running in a virtual server environment. MiServer is a U-M-hosted service maintained on the Ann Arbor campus. MiServer includes safeguards required by HIPAA. These datacenters provide protection from lengthy outages, 24/7 staffing, restricted physical access and disaster recovery, they are backed up automatically onto encrypted tape for recovery and security. All servers and the back end databases are password protected. The server runs Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6-based operating system and security patches and updates are downloaded and installed automatically. The following FIPS validated software will be used:

#1933 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 dm-crypt Cryptographic Module

#1901 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 Kernel Crypto API Cryptographic Module

#1792 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 OpenSSH Server Cryptographic Module

#1758 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 OpenSSL Cryptographic Module

As listed here:

http://csrc.nist.gov/groups/STM/cmvp/documents/140-1/140val-all.htm

All study data will be stored in a password-protected MySQL database residing on an encrypted volume using the FIPS validated dm-crypt software. Access to the database is restricted to the server. No external access is available. Access to servers by study staff is restricted to a password-protected, TLS-encrypted web console using the FIPS validated OpenSSL software, available at https://pcare.miserver.it.umich.edu/. Access to the web console is logged for auditing purposes. Modification to participant records are also logged. Study data can only be downloaded from the web console by study administrators.

Each server is also protected by firewalls to restrict network access to the server. Workstation computers with server access are configured to require passwords (which adhere to the University of Michigan's Password Policy) in order to log in, wake from sleep, or unlock screen savers.

Data from the CHCR server will be downloaded directly to the access-restricted study folder on the secure VA server behind the VA firewall by research staff. To access and download the data from the CHCR server, research staff will be required to log in with a username and password. Data provided to CCMR researchers through the CHCR server will be in coded form, labeled only with a study ID, and with all personally identifying information removed.

VA employees:

We plan to interview up to 40 key stakeholders (up to 4 PCPs and 4 specialists at each site, plus interviews of stakeholders at the VISN and national level), recruited and interviewed by AAVA project staff. By having Ann Arbor study staff recruit the employees, this will reduce the risk of coercion, as in no instance will the recruiting be done by a supervisor of the participants. This will also reduce the risk of a breach of confidentiality. The same precautions for protecting the audio files and transcripts of Veteran participants will be used for protecting these data from VA employees. Data will be stored in an access-restricted study folder so that minimal Ann Arbor study staff members will have access.

Veteran participants and VA employees:

If a study participant (or potential study participant) is upset regarding a survey question, verbalizes the need for support or wants further clarification of any issue during any study calls with staff, a study investigator will address their concern in a sensitive and professional manner. Any complaints/concerns expressed to the study staff by participants, providers, or anyone else affected by this study will be immediately reported to the PI and IRB, as will any unexpected events. Throughout the study, any breach of IRB or HIPPA guidelines will be immediately reported to the PI and the appropriate IRBs.

Transcription:

Interviews of participants and employees will be transcribed. In the event our in-house transcriptionist is unable to provide timely turnaround on transcription requests, we will utilize the Centralized Transcription Service Program (CTSP) out of the VA Salt Lake City (VASLC). Approved staff from the VASLC will transcribe the study's audio files. The VASLC has a Centralized Transcription Service Program available to VA sites and monitored by their own IRB. The study's audio recordings to be transcribed by VASLC staff will be labeled by the subject's unique alphanumeric code and saved behind the VA Firewall in the study's secure project folder on an AAVA OI&T server. The VASLC transcription staff will be given access to a sub-folder within the study's secure project folder. Approved study staff will place a copy of the audio files in this folder for an approved VASLC transcriptionist to access for the purposes of transcription. The VASLC transcriptionist will transcribe each interview and save the completed transcript in the sub-folder using the same alphanumeric code. No data (audio files, in process transcripts, or completed transcripts) will leave the AAVA's secure research server. As completed transcripts become available, approved study staff will move these files from the transcription sub-folder into another sub-folder that is only accessible to study staff, where they will be stored and accessed for qualitative analyses.

Risk vs. potential benefit:

<u>Veteran participants:</u> Although participants may not receive any direct benefit, the risks to participants are minimal and the benefits are great. We believe that those in the intervention (automated prostate cancer symptom management intervention) are likely to receive some benefit in their overall symptom burden as described in our

Study Aim #1 and associated hypotheses. However, control subjects may also experience some benefit in being more attentive to their symptoms as a result of being enrolled in the study and receiving non-tailored newsletters. Because there has been no research testing this type of intervention in prostate cancer survivors experiencing symptom burden, we cannot be sure that intervention subjects will benefit more than control subjects, and this is the primary aim of this research project. The potential benefit to Veteran cancer survivors overall is extremely great. Understanding more about how a low cost, automated intervention can be used to effectively assist Veterans with symptom burden in managing these symptoms and improving their confidence in symptom management is likely to have a broad impact on the lives of one of the largest populations of Veterans using the VHA. The results from this study may benefit other cancer survivors experiencing symptoms, as this type of intervention may be easily translatable.

<u>VA employees:</u> Although participants may not receive any direct benefit, the risks to participants are minimal and the benefits are great. Data from the process evaluation component of this study will be used to help the study team understand how to best implement and maintain a program to address symptom management in prostate cancer survivors. If effective, the potential benefits to the clinicians who care for these survivors is great, as we expect the program to translate into more efficient use of health services.

Provide description of the study population (delineate all categories of subjects – patients, providers, family members, employees, etc.). Include anticipated enrollment numbers

Veteran participants:

Participants will be selected from CDW who meet the following eligibility criteria:

- Veteran patient at one of the four study sites
- History of treatment for prostate cancer treated by surgery, radiation or androgen deprivation therapy between 1-10 years prior to identification
- Has phone number on file and ability to converse on the telephone in English
- No dementia or other significant mental impairment

A random sample of those identified will be asked to participate. Those who elect to participate, and who have a qualifying Brief Screener score (1 or higher on at least 1 symptom) will be randomized to the study. We estimate as many as 553 - 650 veterans will be randomized. All participants will be 40-80 years old at the time of identification, and all will be male as this is a study of prostate cancer. All participants will have a history of prostate cancer; otherwise we expect the health status of these veterans to be varied.

VA employees:

Up to 40 VA employees will be asked to participate in semi-structured interviews. We plan to interview up to 40 key stakeholders (up to 4 PCPs and 4 specialists at each site, plus interviews of stakeholders at the VISN and national level), recruited and interviewed by AAVA project staff. Recruitment of these individuals is not based on any factor other than their position, so we expect males and females of employment age and with a health status good enough to carry out their job duties.

• As applicable, provide information on any added protections for vulnerable populations.

Veteran participants:

This project requires no additional costs to patients and the \$10 gift card incentive is small enough so as to not be coercive to participants. In addition, patients are free to withdraw from the study at any time and are free to keep the \$10 gift card.

VA Employees:

We plan to interview up to 40 key stakeholders (up to 4 PCPs and 4 specialists at each site, plus interviews of stakeholders at the VISN and national level), recruited and interviewed by AAVA project staff. By having Ann Arbor study staff recruit the employees, this will reduce the risk of coercion, as in no instance will the recruiting be

done by a supervisor of the participants. This will also reduce the risk of a breach of confidentiality. The same precautions for protecting the audio files and transcripts of Veteran participants will be used for protecting data from VA employees. Data will be in access-limited study folders so that minimal Ann Arbor study staff members will have access. All electronic data will be stored on a secure VA server behind the VA firewall.

• If applicable include information on data and specimen banking.

N/A

5.2 Recruitment Methods

State how many subjects will be needed.

Veteran participants:

We estimate as many as 553 - 650 veterans will be randomized.

VA employees:

We plan to interview up to 40 key stakeholders (up to 4 PCPs and 4 specialists at each site, plus interviews of stakeholders at the VISN and national level), recruited and interviewed by AAVA project staff.

• Describe when, where, how and by whom potential subjects will be identified and recruited.

RCT:

Recruitment and informed consent. We have been granted a waiver of documentation of informed consent and HIPAA Authorization. Potential participants will be sent an introductory letter and a patient information sheet. The introductory letter will briefly describe the study and include a local or toll free number to call if the patient is not interested in participating or would like more information. After one week, a study coordinator will telephone those Veterans who did not opt-out, and if the patient is interested, the coordinator will ensure the patient is properly informed, obtain verbal informed consent, administer the Brief Screener by phone and determine whether that Veteran meets the criteria of having a clinically meaningful symptom burden score (1 or higher on any one symptom, as a measure of low function or high symptom burden) on at least one item.

For Veterans with significant symptoms, the coordinator will assess interest in participating in the trial, review the patient information sheet and answer any questions. The patient information sheet will clearly state that being in the study means that some Veterans will be enrolled into a program of weekly automated telephone calls plus newsletters while the other group will receive only written information about PC symptom self-management at one time-point. We will make clear that we are studying these methods for helping Veterans with long term PC symptoms and we do not have evidence that one approach is better than the other. The patient information sheet will not state which of these is the "intervention" arm. It will further state that to be in the study requires that the Veteran's name, address, telephone number, age, ethnicity, marital/relationship status, prostate cancer treatment type, initial diagnosis date, service branch VA Site and survey scores be entered into a secure website to a server that meets all VA criteria for confidential data transfer, but that this will be done by the study coordinator and not by the Veteran himself. Finally, the patient information sheet will inform the participant that he is agreeing to a baseline survey and follow up phone call at 5- and 12-months following enrollment. After each of these three assessments, both intervention and control group patients will be called by the IVR system for standardized administration of the EPIC.

Once the Veteran has been deemed eligible, the information sheet has been reviewed, all questions have been answered, and the patient has verbally consented to participate, the study coordinator will then administer the baseline survey over the telephone. Once a participant has been enrolled into the study, AAVA staff will send a \$10 gift card by mail.

Should the phone number or address obtained from CDW turn out to be incorrect or outdated, study staff will check the patient's medical record for current contact information. In the event a letter is returned to us in the mail and an updated address is not available, study staff will attempt to contact the patient by phone up to 3 times including

leaving messages. If the patient is agreeable, study staff will send the recruitment letter to the patient's updated address and contact the patient again after one week to complete the recruitment call as described above.

Process Evaluation:

At the end of the intervention delivery phase, the research team will conduct semi-structured interviews with up to 40 key stakeholders (up to 4 PCPs and 4 specialists at each site, plus interviews of stakeholders at the VISN and national level). Drs. Hawley and Skolarus will arrange interviews with up to 4 PCPs at each site (with the support of the primary care service director) and 4 specialists providing PC survivorship care per site. Recruitment of these individuals will be done via email and phone, with introductory letters sent by Dr. Hawley and the site Pls. Guided interviews will be conducted with these physicians in person or by telephone to assess perceptions of system factors contributing to positive intervention outcomes, and will be audiotaped with their verbal consent.

To identify participant factors influencing intervention effectiveness, we will re-contact participants in the intervention arm who achieved the best outcomes (i.e., had the highest reduction in symptom burden over the study period) and the worst outcomes (i.e., no change in symptom burden or increase in symptom burden). Starting in month 9 of year 3, we will contact 5 participants at each site in the best outcome group, and 5 participants per site in the worst outcome group (N=40 total), based on preliminary data analyses available at that time. We will conduct in-depth interviews with these participants by telephone to determine patient perceptions and factors associated with the intervention's effectiveness. Participants in these interviews will be limited to patients who agreed to this interview during the 12-month follow-up survey. We will initiate re-contact during month 9 of year 3, and continue into months 1-2 of year 4. Telephone interviews are expected to take 30-40 minutes and will be audiotaped with the participants' verbal consent.

• Describe materials that will be used to recruit subjects, e.g., advertisements. Include materials as an appendix or separate attachment.

Potential participants will be sent an introductory letter and a patient information sheet. The letter will describe the study and include either a toll-free or local number to call if the patient is not interested in participating or would like more information.

• Describe any payments to subjects, including the amount, timing (at the end of the study or pro-rated for partial study participation), method (e.g., cash, check, gift card), and whether subjects will experience a delay in receiving the payment.

Once a participant has been enrolled into the study, AAVA staff will send a \$10 gift card by mail. Those patients participating in the evaluation process will receive an additional \$20 to compensate them for the 30-40 minutes required for the interview. Payments will not be pro-rated as all payments for this project are minimal and made on a one-time basis. Payment for the ~40 patients participating in the process evaluation interviews will also be in the form of a gift card and will be sent by the AAVA project staff once the interview has been completed.

5.3 Informed Consent Procedures

Indicate if informed consent will be obtained and/or if you are requesting a waiver
of informed consent or waiver of documentation of informed consent. If the
research involves multiple phases, specify for which phases of the research the
waiver(s) is being requested and/or the informed consent will be sought.

Describe who will be obtaining informed consent, if applicable, and any circumstances that may need to be addressed (e.g. subjects with impaired decision making ability and the use of a legally authorized representative, etc.)

We have obtained a waiver of documentation of informed consent and HIPAA authorization for the entirety of the study. Study staff will obtain verbal informed consent during the initial screening call (see patient recruitment script). Generally, the local coordinator will be responsible for recruitment of patients from her own site; however, we plan to add an additional coordinator at the coordinating center (VAAAHS) who will be responsible for assisting with patient

recruitment at all three sites. Also, coordinators from all three sites may assist with recruitment at other sites in cases when a coordinator position is unfilled or due to extended leave.

 If applicable, indicate how local site study personnel will be trained regarding human subjects protections requirements and how to obtain and document informed consent.

Study staff sign a pledge of confidentiality and understand that breach of confidentiality is grounds for dismissal. Study staff are required to complete annual training on privacy and HIPPA, as well as biannual training on human subjects protection. We have obtained a waiver of documentation of informed consent and HIPAA authorization for the entirety of the study.

5.4 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Describe the criteria that determine who will be included in or excluded from the study.

Veteran participants:

Participants will be selected from CDW who meet the following eligibility criteria:

- Veteran patient at one of the four study sites
- History of treatment for prostate cancer treated by surgery, radiation or androgen deprivation therapy between 1-10 years prior to identification
- Has phone number on file and ability to converse on the telephone in English
- No dementia or other significant mental impairment

A random sample of those identified will be asked to participate. Those who elect to participate, and who have a qualifying Brief Screener score (1 or higher on at least 1 symptom) will be randomized to the study. We estimate as many as 553 - 650 veterans will be randomized. All participants will be 40-80 years old at the time of identification, and all will be male as this is a study of prostate cancer; otherwise we expect the health status of these veterans to be varied.

5.5 Study Evaluations

• Describe all evaluations to be conducted (including screening; tests/questionnaires that will be administered; any procedures that subjects will be required to complete) and data collection methods. Include materials as an appendix or separate attachment.

Potential participants will be sent an introductory packet from the AAVA. After one week, the coordinator will telephone those Veterans who did not op-out, and if the patient is interested, the coordinator will administer the Brief Screener by phone and determine whether that Veteran meets the criteria of having a clinically meaningful symptom burden score (1 or higher on any one symptom, as a measure of low function or high symptom burden) on at least one item. Once the Veteran has been deemed eligible and the baseline survey has been administered, the veteran will be randomized to the automated telephone system or enhanced usual care (information about self-management).

Veterans randomized to the automated telephone system intervention will receive 4 automated phone calls over a 3-month period: 1 at study start and then once a month for 3 months. These calls will last approximately 15 minutes and will include questions about symptoms, will allow the veteran to identify a goal to work on, and help the veteran take steps towards reaching their goal and managing their symptoms. At the end of each call, the veteran will also have the option of listening to an audio testimonial tailored on priority symptom area. Following each call, the veteran will receive a personalized newsletter that will provide more details regarding their symptoms and strategies to help them manage their symptoms. Each newsletter will be 4 – 8 pages in length. The automated system will try to reach the veteran up to eight times over the course of 4 days (see IVR call schedule). If the veteran has not completed the call by day 3 of the call window, study staff will make up to 5 or 6 attempts to contact the patient (including leaving messages) to verify the phone number and preferred call time. If the veteran has still not completed the call by day 5 of the call window, study staff will again make up to 5 or 6 attempts to contact the patient. Following each reminder call, study staff have the option to initiate additional IVR calls should veteran be agreeable.

Veterans randomized to this group may also be contacted to participate in a 30 to 40-minute audio-recorded phone interview to find out about their experience with the program. These interviews will be conducted by the research staff at the Ann Arbor VA in Ann Arbor, MI. During the 12-month survey, veterans will be asked if they are interested in participating in the interview.

Veterans randomized to the control group will receive one 4-page newsletter with educational information about symptoms and symptom management, and will complete a survey over the phone at enrollment and at 5 and 12 months after starting the study.

Telephone surveys of both intervention and control groups to obtain baseline and follow-up measures will be conducted at three time points: baseline, five months, and 12 months post-enrollment. Hard copies of follow-up surveys will be sent to any participants expressing preference for completing the survey by paper and participants we are unable to reach by phone. Survey content will be finalized by our study team using established approaches during year 1 and pilot tested among prostate cancer survivors affiliated with the VAAAHS prior to use in the trial. Each survey will be administered by the VA coordinator over the telephone. After each of these three assessments, both intervention and control group patients will be called by the IVR system for standardized administration of the EPIC. Baseline surveys will be done prior to randomization. Beginning approximately 4 months following enrollment, initial attempts will be made by the coordinating team to contact the participant by phone to complete the Time 2 survey, and approximately 11 months following enrollment to complete the Time 3 survey. For all 3 surveys, up to 5 or 6 attempts will be made to complete the survey, including leaving voice mails and providing call-back information for participants who are not home. Times to complete the surveys will be scheduled as desired by participants. Finally, if participants are unable or unwilling to complete the survey by telephone, a paper-and-pencil survey will be mailed to them with a return envelope. Participants who fail to return the paper survey within one month may be sent a second paper survey by mail. In addition, a reminder newsletter will be sent to participants 1-2 months prior to their expected 12-month follow-up. All participants completing the 12-month assessment will be sent an "early results" newsletter showing some preliminary survey results and thanking participants for their contribution to the study.

Patients are free to skip any survey questions administered by study staff that they would prefer not to answer. However, because the newsletters are tailored based on responses to questions administered by the automated telephone system, these questions are not optional. Nevertheless, patients are free to hang up the phone if they prefer not to complete an IVR call. Patients will also have the option to call into the IVR system using a toll free number if they prefer not to wait to complete their call.

We will use the Expanded Prostate Cancer Index (EPIC) to assess PC-symptom burden and associated PC-QOL at the baseline, 5- and 12-month assessments. The EPIC was developed by our study consultant, Dr. Wei, and has been widely used in prostate cancer survivorship research. The EPIC is a 26-item measure that assesses symptom burden in four domains: urinary symptoms (9 items), bowel symptoms (6 items), sexual symptoms (6 items) and vitality (5 items). Each domain has a subscale related to function and bother which together contribute to disease specific quality of life. Prior work by Dr. Wei and colleagues has shown that these domains have good internal consistency (Chronbach's alpha > 0.82 for each domain) and correlate highly with other established measures of QOL.107 Each domain has a range of possible scores from 0 to 100, with lower scores indicating worse symptom burden. Lower EPIC scores for any one domain are associated with lower function in that domain (e.g., lower sexual health function) and lower QOL. Thus higher symptom burden, which reflects both function and bother scores, translate into lower EPIC scores. Based on consultation with Dr. Wei and on prior work by his team, for purposes of this study we will consider a score of 70 or less to indicate "clinically meaningful symptom burden" for any one domain. We will conduct primary outcome analyses using the EPIC. Self-efficacy in patient-physician interactions will also be assessed both at baseline and 12-months using a 5-item short form version of the Perceived Efficacy in Patient-Physician Interactions (PEPPI). The PEPPI was developed to measure older patients' self-efficacy in obtaining medical information and attention to their medical concerns from physicians. PEPPI has good convergent and discriminant validity and strong reliability (α =0.93).

At the 12-month assessment we will evaluate two key psychosocial domains of QOL (subjective health and perceptions of cancer control) that have been shown to be impacted by PC treatment in prior research. We will assess subjective health using the VR-12, an established measure of overall QOL that includes perceptions of one's health. We will assess perceived cancer control using a measure developed in prior research examining the psychosocial impact of prostate cancer; this measure includes three domains related to confidence that one's cancer is under control, worries about recurrence, and appraisals of one's coping with prostate cancer. We will evaluate these

outcomes at the 12-month assessment because that is when we expect the intervention would have its largest impact on these psychosocial domains of QOL.

The primary outcome for Specific Aim 2 will be use of VA services related to prostate cancer survivorship care at the 12 month assessment point. We will use the 12 month assessment point to ensure we capture any medication or service use related to prostate cancer symptom management that may occur after patients' exposure to the intervention has ended. Because there are no VA guidelines for appropriate management of prostate cancer survivors, we also will operationalize symptom-specific utilization consistent with MCC guidelines which are expert and evidence based. In the absence of VA guidelines for prostate cancer survivorship care, we considered national, regional and specialty organization guidelines. While there exists considerable overlap in recommendations, we ultimately chose the Michigan Cancer Consortium (MCC) guidelines for prostate cancer survivorship care as a standard against which to assess self-management approaches as well as use of services. We chose the MCC quidelines because they have good coverage of symptom management, the consortium is based in the same geographic area as our study sites, and because 2 study co-investigators contributed to their content (Skolarus, Wei). We will operationalize utilization consistent with these guidelines using criteria mapping. This process has been used extensively to develop sets of quality metrics using a set of recommendations, when evidence-based quidelines do not exist, as is the case with prostate cancer survivorship care. Specifically, for each symptom indicated by the participant at baseline, we will determine potentially appropriate use of services by mapping receipt of services at the 12 month assessment to those outlined in the MCC recommendations. For analysis purposes, we will consider care recommended by the MCC as "guideline-concordant" even though the MCC are not fully evidence based guidelines. Data will be derived from three sources described in the Analytic Plan section below. For instance, if the patient indicates a problem with sexual function at baseline, we will measure use of pharmacologic treatments such as the phosphodiesterase inhibitors (sildenafil, tadalafil, vardenafil) or prostaglandin E1 (alprostadil as injection or intraurethral pellet), use of medical devices such as a vacuum erection device, a visit to a urologist, or receipt of surgery such as a penile prosthesis. Pharmacological agents for managing problems with urination include oxybutynin (Ditropan), tolterodine (Detrol) and phenazopyridine. Global measures for each symptom will indicate use of any of the pharmacologic, device, or referral measures suggested in the guideline. We also will create continuous measures of guideline-concordance service use from zero (none of the non-self-management approaches used in the prior year) to the maximum number of options for that specific symptom. Switching from one pharmacologic approach to another will be counted as separate approaches. The outcomes for Aim 2 (use of prostate cancer survivorship services consistent with those recommended by the MCC) will be obtained from two sources. We will collect pharmacy data, patient demographics, diagnoses, the date and type of utilization events, location of services (study site as well as clinic type), and the patients' assigned primary care provider from the Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW). To obtain information about device utilization, such as a penile clamp for incontinence control, we will use both CDW and the National Patient Prosthetics Database (NPPD) from Patient Care Services. Having the CDW and the NPPD records will ensure we can collect the most accurate device utilization. The process for requesting a data extract from these sources will be initiated at the end of year 2, to ensure sufficient time to obtain appropriate approvals for these datasets to be accessed by the data analyst from the AAVAHS.

We will collect information about participants' use of primary and specialty care from VA records in the 12 months between study enrollment and the final assessment. To account for services potentially received outside of the VA, we will ask participants at both the 5- and 12-month assessments to report the number of times over the prior interval that they visited their VA primary care physician and a specialist (urologist, oncologist, radiation oncologist, or gastroenterologist). For each visit, we will ask them to indicate whether the visit was related to their prostate cancer symptom management. We will also use the datasets created through Aim 2 to assess patients' use of primary and/or specialty care 12-months post enrollment.

5.6 Data Analysis

 Provide sample size determination and analysis (include anticipated rate of screen failures, study discontinuations, lost to follow-up etc.).

In a recent EPIC study, the minimal clinically important difference for the four EPIC domains was defined as the difference in scores between patients who were completely satisfied with their symptom burden (function and bother combined) versus only somewhat satisfied. Minimally important differences ranged from 0.33 standard deviation (SD) to 0.5 SD, which translated into a difference of six points for urinary incontinency scores, four points for bowel, 10 points for sexual function, and 4 points for hormonal symptoms. In the proposed study, we consider these differences as the clinically meaningful between-group mean difference in symptom reduction. To detect a 0.33 SD difference in symptom reduction between patients receiving the automated PC symptom support versus standard information at 12

month with 90% power, we will need 394 participants (197 per group), based on using a regression analysis adjusting for baseline values (analysis of covariance) with an α of 0.0125 with 0.5 as an assumed correlation between baseline and follow-up symptom scores. Note that the α value was chosen conservatively to detect symptom reduction in any of the four domains. The power will be higher to detect a larger than 0.33 SD between-group difference in symptom reduction and also to detect the same difference with higher correlation than 0.5 between baseline and follow-up symptom values. Assuming conservatively 15% attrition at each assessment time, we propose to enroll 550 participants in total with an anticipated 397 participants to complete assessments at the second assessment time. The number of eligible prostate cancer patients at each site is sufficient for recruitment. For interval scale outcomes measures such as confidence in symptom self-management, the proposed sample size should give adequate power to detect at least 0.33 SD differences between groups.

• Describe how, where and by whom the data will be analyzed.

All data will be analyzed at the Ann Arbor VA. The qualitative data analyst, Jordan Sparks, the data manager, Jennifer Davis, and Drs. Hawley, Hofer and Piette will participate in the data analysis.

Aim 1 initial analyses and data verification: Analyses will be done in three phases. Baseline analysis (data verification) will include examining the distribution of all study variables to assess extreme values, missing data, variances, skewness, and type of distribution. Descriptive statistics will be used to describe the distribution of baseline variables in the two groups. We will use means, medians, and ranges for continuous variables such as age and baseline symptom scores, and we will use proportions for discrete variables. Baseline comparability of the two groups will be assessed using two-group t-tests for continuous variables, and chi-square tests for dichotomous or categorical variables. Variables found to be associated with the study groups will be included in subsequent analyses as covariates to adjust for potential differences between groups, and the results will be interpreted with any baseline imbalances in mind. We also will evaluate bivariate associations between patients' experimental condition and the outcomes, as well as between each covariate and the outcomes and between each covariate and group assignment. These analyses will be done to determine unadjusted measures of effect, assess possible confounders, and anticipate any collinearity in subsequent analyses. We will also report by study group the percent of patients who reached EPIC symptom scores above 70 (i.e., "better symptom burden") at both 5- and 12- months. In the final phase we will use multivariable models to estimate the intervention effect. We will conduct graphical analysis to explore variation in outcome variables over time and between the two experimental groups. We will evaluate the trends in symptom burden, knowledge and information need over time in the two study groups separately. Results of these graphical analyses will be used to fine-tune the analytic course described below.

Aim 1 outcome analyses: Our primary outcomes for Aim 1 will be changes in symptom burden and bother scores at 5months relative to baseline, using the EPIC measure. We will also evaluate these outcomes at the 12-month assessment point, but focus on the 5-month for primary outcome assessment as it is closest to the completion of the intervention. Multiple regression analysis will be used to evaluate the primary outcomes. The model will include an indicator for intervention group as the primary independent variable, and treatment type indicator (surgery vs. radiotherapy) and study site indicators as covariates. Baseline variables found to differ between the two study groups in the baseline analysis will also be included as covariates, though we expect the groups to be balanced on demographic and symptom scores by the randomization process. The coefficient for the intervention group indicator will be used to evaluate the impact of the personalized automated prostate cancer symptom management program compared to standard information. For change in symptom burden, we will repeat the analysis using each of the four symptom domains for EPIC. We will use the same analytic approach to evaluate changes in confidence in symptom self-management, our second Aim 1 outcome. We hypothesize that for both Aim 1 outcomes, intervention group survivors will have better scores at both 5-and 12-month assessments relative to those in the group (i.e., less symptom burden and better PC-QOL, more confidence in symptom self-management). For patients with available data at both 5- and 12-months, we will assess the trajectory of symptoms over time. This will be done using a linear mixed-effects model with random effects for each subject, an indicator for intervention group, an indicator of follow-up wave (5 versus 12 months) and an interaction of time by intervention group to model potential changes in the intervention effect on symptoms soon (at 5-months) vs. long (at 12-months) after the intervention is discontinued. If the interaction is not significant, we will drop the interaction term from the model and estimate the time-averaged difference in outcomes between the two study groups. Analyses of other outcomes, such as self-management implementation and confidence, will be done similarly.

Aim 2 Analysis: For Aim 2, we hypothesize that 12 months after enrollment, Veterans in the automated prostate cancer symptom management intervention will have higher rates of use for PC survivorship services that are consistent with the recommendations of the MCC than control patients. The primary outcome for Specific Aim 2 will be use of symptom-specific MCC guideline-concordant care assessed at 12 months. Using our global measure of use of any symptom-specific guideline concordant care (yes/no), we will evaluate differences across intervention conditions

using a logistic regression model including all participants and controlling for potential baseline confounders. We will then conduct additional logistic analysis within subgroups of patients with various symptom patterns at baseline. For these models, the primary outcome will be use of guideline-concordant care for a specific symptom (yes/no). Secondary independent variables will include the EPIC baseline score. We will control for Veteran demographics (including age, race/ethnicity, education and income), study site, and type of treatment received (i.e., radiation versus chemotherapy). We will then explore the total amount of guideline concordant services received in regression models appropriate for skewed count data (e.g., poisson or negative binomial models).

5.7 Withdrawal of Subjects

• Describe any anticipated circumstances under which subjects will be withdrawn from the research without their consent.

There are no anticipated circumstances under which subjects will be withdrawn without their consent.

• Describe the consequences of a subject's decision to withdraw from the research and the procedures for orderly termination of participation by the subject (e.g., the subject contacting the investigator for an end-of-study visit).

This is an RCT but as will be clear in the information letter, patients may choose to withdraw from the study at any time. If IVR calls are not answered, study staff will attempt to contact patients (up to 5 or 6 attempts will be made, including leaving voice mails and providing call-back information for participants who are not home) to determine whether they wish to continue participating. Participants who indicate they have changed their mind and no longer wish to continue in the study will not be contacted again.

6.0 Reporting

• Include procedures for reporting unanticipated problems, serious adverse events, and protocol deviations.

Reports of related SAEs and UAPs and protocol deviations will be made by the study team member who discovers the event, the site coordinator, or the project manager to the VA Central IRB (CIRB). The Ann Arbor project manager should be notified at the same time a report is made if the report is coming from another site's study team member. Any unanticipated related incidents involving a death at any of the 3 study sites will be reported immediately to the CIRB. Any unanticipated related incidents involving SAEs and UAPs meeting the definition of serious will be reported within 5 business days of discovery to the CIRB secure SharePoint site dedicated to this purpose. AEs and UAPs that are not related are to be reported to Ann Arbor project manager as they are discovered, and will be reported to the CIRB in summary at the time of continuing review/project closure. Protocol deviations/violations that are likely to substantially adversely affect 1) the rights, safety, or welfare of a participant; 2) a participant's willingness to continue participation; or 3) the integrity of the research data, including VA information security requirements will all be reported within 5 working days of being made aware of the occurrence. These will be reported through the secure SharePoint site dedicated to this purpose.

It is possible the automated system and follow-up surveys may uncover certain symptoms that warrant medical attention. The 2 possible symptoms that the automated system could uncover is blood in stools and/or urine, though the likelihood of either of these is low. If a study participant reports blood in stool and/or urine (or other concerning symptoms requiring the input of a physician), study staff will contact the participant to confirm the report. For all participants verifying current or recent symptoms, we will enter a progress note in the patient's medical chart with a description of the patient's reported symptoms and a request for follow-up and add the appropriate provider(s) as additional signers on the note. This plan has been reviewed and approved by all the MDs on the study. In the event a study participant has no assigned provider(s) at the VA appropriate for follow up of reported concerning symptoms, study staff will contact the participant directly and encourage him to notify his primary care (or other) provider of said symptoms. Should the study participant express concerns or request additional information, or in the event the participant has no assigned community-based provider, the patient will be contacted by a study MD. In the event we

are unable to reach participants by phone who have no VA assigned provider, study staff will send a letter by mail encouraging them to notify their provider of the reported symptoms.

Complaints from participants regarding VA medical care unrelated to the study should be documented by study staff and reported to the local Patient Advocate Liaison.

7.0 Privacy and Confidentiality

• Describe whether the study will use or disclose subjects' Protected Health Information (PHI).

The project data manager will use data from the VA Corporate Data Warehouse (CDW) to identify potentially eligible patients. The data manager maintains these files.

Potential participants will be sent an introductory packet from the AAVA. After one week, the coordinator will telephone those Veterans who did not op-out, and if the patient is interested, the coordinator will administer the Brief Screener by phone and determine whether that Veteran meets the criteria of having a clinically meaningful symptom burden score (1 or higher on any one symptom, as a measure of low function or high symptom burden) on at least one item.

Once the Veteran has been deemed eligible, the information sheet has been reviewed, all questions have been answered, and the patient has verbally consented to participate, the study coordinator will then administer the baseline survey over the telephone.

Survey data will be entered by the coordinator into an ACCESS database stored in an access-restricted study folder on a secure server behind the VA firewall. Survey data will be linked through study ID to data obtained from the automated telephone system and to utilization data collected from administrative databases 12 months following enrollment. All datasets will be stored and merged in an access-restricted study folder behind the VA firewall for analysis by VAAAHS study staff.

• Describe the steps that will be taken to secure the data (e.g., training, authorization of access, password protection, encryption, physical controls, Certificates of Confidentiality, and separation of identifiers and data)

All paper records will be kept in locked offices in locked file cabinets in VA offices. Access to the file cabinets will be restricted to research personnel. All electronic data will be kept secured on VA servers behind the VA firewall. No data will be stored on computer hard drives.

To minimize the risk of a breach of confidentiality, we will perform the following steps. First, as soon as the cohort is defined by the data manager, each patient in the cohort will be assigned a unique study ID. We will then create an electronic tracking file on an access-restricted secure drive that maps the study participant's identifying information to the study ID. No identifying information will be placed on data collection forms (e.g. surveys). Identifiers of potential recruits and study participants will be maintained to allow for follow-up contacts during the data collection phase. These will be kept in study folders accessible only by study staff and will be destroyed according to VHA Records Control Schedule 10-1 (RCS 10-1) once direction for destruction of research records is published by VHA. Electronic data will be maintained behind the secure VA firewall and maintained by the Ann Arbor coordinating center. All identifiable data will be kept behind the firewall, with access only available to key study team members. The data manager will be responsible for creating analytic datasets for statisticians and investigators; these datasets will be de-identified per HIPAA guidelines. All resulting research data will be presented in aggregate only. Furthermore, study staff sign a pledge of confidentiality and understand that breach of confidentiality is grounds for dismissal. Study staff are required to complete annual training on privacy and HIPPA, as well as biannual training on human subjects protection.

Information entered into the automated telephone monitoring system by the patient will be merged with basic information obtained about the patient from VA's Patient Care Database and from the baseline survey (specifically name, address, telephone number, age, ethnicity, marital/relationship status, prostate cancer treatment type, time since treatment, service branch and survey scores). This information will be entered by project staff into a secure

website to a CHCR UM server that meets all VA criteria for confidential data transfer. Collectively, this information will be used to generate an MTS dataset that will be used to generate the newsletters. The CHCR team assigned to work on this project will have access to identifiable information; however, we are in the process of obtaining a data use agreement. Also, CHCR staff working on this project have completed the WOC process mandatory training including VA Privacy and Information Security Awareness and Rules of Behavior and Privacy and HIPAA Training.

The website used to transfer data to CHCR will be protected by a **Transport Layer Security (TLS) protocol**, ensuring that all data transmissions between a user's browser and the web server are encrypted and are therefore secure. The Transport Layer Security (TLS) protocol in use on the website supports both 128-bit and 256-bit encryption, depending on the user's browser. In addition, FIPS 140-2 validated software, specifically OpenSSL and dm-crypt with a FIPS-mode enabled Linux kernel, will be used to store the encrypted data. All VHA data and derivative data must be stored in an encrypted partition on the Requestor's or its contractors/subcontractors information system hard drive using **FIPS 140-2 validated software**. (See http://csrc.nist.gov/groups/STM/cmvp/validation.html for a complete list of validated cryptographic modules). The application must be capable of key recovery and a copy of the encryption key(s) must be stored in multiple secure locations. FIPS 140-2 (or current version) compliant / NIST validated encryption will be used to secure VHA data stored on any portable drives, IT components, disks, CD's / DVD's.

Data at CHCR will be stored on web servers running in a virtual server environment. MiServer is a U-M-hosted service maintained on the Ann Arbor campus. MiServer includes safeguards required by HIPAA. These datacenters provide protection from lengthy outages, 24/7 staffing, restricted physical access and disaster recovery, they are backed up automatically onto encrypted tape for recovery and security. All servers and the back end databases are password protected. The server runs Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6-based operating system and security patches and updates are downloaded and installed automatically. The following FIPS validated software will be used:

#1933 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 dm-crypt Cryptographic Module #1901 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 Kernel Crypto API Cryptographic Module

#1792 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 OpenSSH Server Cryptographic Module

#1758 Red Hat Enterprise Linux 6.2 OpenSSL Cryptographic Module

As listed here:

http://csrc.nist.gov/groups/STM/cmvp/documents/140-1/140val-all.htm

All study data will be stored in a password-protected MySQL database residing on an encrypted volume using the FIPS validated dm-crypt software. Access to the database is restricted to the server. No external access is available. Access to servers by study staff is restricted to a password-protected, TLS-encrypted web console using the FIPS validated OpenSSL software, available at https://pcare.miserver.it.umich.edu/. Access to the web console is logged for auditing purposes. Modification to participant records are also logged. Study data can only be downloaded from the web console by study administrators.

Each server is also protected by firewalls to restrict network access to the server. Workstation computers with server access are configured to require passwords (which adhere to the University of Michigan's Password Policy) in order to log in, wake from sleep, or unlock screen savers.

Data are provided to researchers in coded form, with all personally identifying information removed. Upon study completion, CHCR will delete all participant data (as will be described in the DUA) and all data stored on VA servers will be permanently de-identified for archive and then destroyed according to VHA Records Control Schedule 10-1 (RCS 10-1) once direction for destruction of research records is published by VHA.

8.0 Communication Plan

• Include plan for ensuring all required local site approvals are obtained and notifying the Director of any facility where the research in being conducted but the facility is not engaged.

The project manager will verify VA Central IRB approval and the local VA facility approval before study recruitment can begin at that site. There are no facilities where the research is being conducted but the facility is not engaged in research.

Include plan for keeping all engaged sites informed of changes to the protocol, informed consent, and HIPAA authorization

As this project is being implemented, the research team will conduct regular conference calls (approximately weekly) with the implementation team at each site, to track progress and address any questions that arise regarding implementation. These weekly calls will continue for the first few months of patient enrollment and will decrease in frequency as appropriate, depending on the challenges (or lack thereof) associated with implementation.

Include plan for informing local sites of any Serious Adverse Events, Unanticipated Problems, or interim results that may impact conduct of the study.

Reports of related SAEs and UAPs and protocol deviations will be made by the study team member who discovers the event, the site coordinator, or the project manager to the VA Central IRB (CIRB). The Ann Arbor project manager should be notified at the same time a report is made if the report is coming from another site's study team member. Any unanticipated related incidents involving a death at any of the 4 study sites will be reported immediately to the CIRB. Any unanticipated related incidents involving SAEs and UAPs meeting the definition of serious will be reported within 5 business days of discovery to the CIRB secure SharePoint site dedicated to this purpose. AEs and UAPs that are not related are to be reported to Ann Arbor project manager as they are discovered, and will be reported to the CIRB in summary at the time of continuing review/project closure. Protocol deviations/violations that are likely to substantially adversely affect 1) the rights, safety, or welfare of a participant; 2) a participant's willingness to continue participation; or 3) the integrity of the research data, including VA information security requirements will all be reported within 5 working days of being made aware of the occurrence. These will be reported through the secure SharePoint site dedicated to this purpose.

Include plan for ensuring the study is conducted according to the IRB-approved protocol.

The regular calls mentioned above will be used as opportunities to ensure the study is conducted according to the IRB-approved protocol. These team calls will include discussion of any updates to the protocol, recruitment procedures, and any issues (i.e. SAEs, UAPs, and protocol deviations, etc) that arise during the course of the study. Minutes for these meetings, and any updated documentation, will be posted to the AAVA study drive, to which study staff will have access.

 Include plan for notifying all local facility directors and LSIs when a multi-site study reaches the point that it no longer requires engagement of the local facility (e.g., all subsequent follow-up of subjects will be performed by the PI from another facility).

At the end of any individual site's participation in this research, the local facility director and LSI will be notified by an email from an Ann Arbor study investigator.

9.0 References

Bibliography of cited literature

REFERENCES

1. Zullig LL, Jackson GL, Dorn RA, et al. Cancer incidence among patients of the U.S Veterans Affairs HealthCareSystem. Mil Med.2012;177(6):693-701.

- 2. Wilt TJ, Shamliyan TA, Taylor BC, et al. Association between hospital and surgeon radicalprostatectomy volume and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Urol. Sep 2008;180(3):820-828; discussion 828-829.
- 3. American Cancer Society. www.cancer.org. Accessed May, 2012.
- 4. Robinson LL D-W. Cancer survivorship: focusing on future research opportunities. Cancer Epi Biom Prec. 2011;20(10):1994-1995.
- 5. Skolarus TA, Miller DC, Zhang Y, et al. The delivery of prostate cancer care in the United States: implications for delivery system reform. J Urol. Dec 2010;184(6):2279-2284.
- 6. Bill-Axelson A, Holmberg L, Ruutu M, et al. Radical prostatectomy versus watchful waiting in early prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(19):1977-84.
- 7. Sanda MG, Dunn RL, et al. Quality of life and satisfaction with outcome among prostate-cancer survivors. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(12):1250-61.
- 8. Alemozaffar M, Regan MM, et al. Prediction of erectile function following treatment for prostate cancer. JAMA. 2011;306(11):1205-14.
- 9. Dandapani SV, Sanda MG. Measuring health-related quality of life consequences from primary treatment for early-state prostate cancer. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2008;18(1):67-72.
- 10. Johansson E, Steineck G, Holmberg L, et al. Long-term quality of life outcomes after radical prostatectomy or watchful waiting: The Scandinavian Prostate cancer Group-4 Randomized Trial. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(9):891-899.
- 11. Johansson E, Bill-Axelson A, Holmberg L, et al. Time, symptom burden, androgen deprivation, and self-assessed quality of life after radical prostatectomy or watchful waiting: the Randomized Scandinavian Prostate Cancer Group Study Number 4 (SPCG-4) clinical trial. Eur Urol. 2009:55(2):422-430.
- 12. Steineck G, Helgesen F, et al. Quality of life after radical prostatectomy or watchful waiting. NEJM. 2002;347(11):790-796.
- 13. Penson DF, Litwin MS. Quality of life after treatment for prostate cancer. Curr Urol Rep. 2003;4(3):185-195.
- 14. Ferrer M, Suarez JF, Guedea F, et al. Health-related quality of life two years after treatment with radical prostatectomy, prolstate brachytherapy, or external beam radiotherapy in patients with clinically localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;72(2):421-432.
- 15. Gore JL, Kwan L, Lee SP, et al.. Survivorship beyond convalescence: 48-month quality-of-life outcomes after treatment for localized prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. Jun 16 2009;101(12):888-892.
- 16. Hoffman RM, MacDonald R, Wilt TJ. Laser prostatectomy for benign prostatic obstruction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev.2004(1):CD001987.
- 17. Reeve BB, Stover AM, Jensen RE, et al. Impact of diagnosis and treatment of clinically localized prostate cancer on health-related quality of life for older Americans: a population-based study. Cancer. 2012;118(22):5679-5687.
- 18. Miller DC, Wei JT, Dunn RL, et al. Use of medications or devices for erectile dysfunction among long-term prostate cancer treatment survivors: potential influence of sexual motivation and/or indifference. Urology. 2006;68(1):166-171.
- 19. Miller DC, Sanda MG, Dunn RL, et al. Long-term outcomes among localized prostate cancer survivors: health-related quality-of-life changes after radical prostatectomy, external radiation, and brachytherapy. J Clin Oncol. Apr 20 2005;23(12):2772-2780.
- 20. Ferrer M, Suarez JF, Guedea F, et al. Health-related quality of life two years after treatment with radical prostatectomy, prostate brachytherapy, or external beam radiotherapy in patients with clinically localized prostate cancer. Int J Radiation Oncology Bio Phys. 2008;72(2):421-432.
- 21. Potosky AL, Legler J, Albertsen PC, et al. Health outcomes after prostatectomy or radiotherapy for prostate cancer: results from the Prostate Cancer Outcomes Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. Oct 4 2000;92(19):1582-1592.
- 22. Potosky AL, Davis WW, Hoffman RM, et al. Five-year outcomes after prostatectomy or radiotherapy for prostate cancer: the prostate cancer outcomes study. J Natl Cancer Inst. Sep 15 2004;96(18):1358-1367.
- 23. Wei JT, Dunn RL, Sandler HM, et al. Comprehensive comparison of health-related quality of life after contemporary therapies for localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. Jan 15 2002;20(2):557-566.
- 24. Harrington CV, Hansen JA, et al.. It's not over when it's over: long-term symptoms in cancer survivors -- a systematic review. J Psychiatry Med. 2010;40(2):163-181.
- 25. Wei JT, Dunn RL, et al. Prospective assessment of patient reported urinary continence after radical prostatectomy. J Urol. Sep 2000;164(3 Pt 1):744-48.
- 26. Taylor KL, Luta G, Miller AB, et al. Long-term disease-specific functioning among prostate cancer survivors and non-cancer controls in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancer screening trial. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(22):2768-2775.
- 27. Pardo Y, Guedea F, Aguilo F, et al. Quality-of-life impact of primary treatments for localized prostate cancer in patients without hormonal treatment. J Clin Oncol. Nov 1 2010;28(31):4687-4696.
- 28. Yassine MD, Copeland G, Wei JT, Demers RY. Abstract B24: Common and persistent adverse outcomes following prostate cancer treatment: Findings from the Michigan Prostate Cancer Survivor Study. American Urologic Society Conference. Washington, DC2011.
- 29. Clark JA, Rieker P, et al. Changes in Quality of Life Following Treatment for Early Prostate Cancer. Urology. 1999(53):161-168.
- 30. Clark JA, Talcott JA. Confidence and Uncertainty Long After Initial Treatment for Early Prostate Cancer: Survivors' Views of Cancer Control and the Treatment Decisions They Made. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(27):4457-4463.
- 31. Clark JA, Inui TS, Silliman RA, et al. Patients' Perceptions of Quality of Life After Treatment for Early Prostate Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(20):3777-3784.
- 32. Barlow J, Wright C, Sheasby J, Turner A, et al. Self-management approaches for people with chronic conditions. Pat Educ Couns. 2002;48(2):177-187.
- 33. Wagner EH, Glasgow RE, et al. Quality improvement in chronic illness care: a collaborative approach. Jt Comm J Qual Improv. 2001;27(2):63-80.
- 34. Wagner EH. Chronic disease management: what will it take to improve care for chronic illness? Eff Clin Pract. 1998;1:2-4.
- 35. Lorig K, Holman H. Self management education: history, definition, outcomes and mechanisms. . Behav Med. 2003;26(1):1-7.
- 36. Wagner EH, Austin BT, et al Improving chronic illness care: translating evidence into action. Healt Aff. 2001;20:64-78.
- 37 .McCorkle R, Ercolano E, Lazenby M, et al. Self-management: Enabling and empowering patients living with cancer as a chronic illness. A Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(1):50-62.

- 38. Hewitt M, Committee on Cancer Survivorship, National Cancer Policy Board. Lost in Transition: From Cancer Patient to Cancer Survivor. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2005.
- 39. Richards M, Corner J, Maher J. The National Cancer Survivorship Initiative: new and emerging evidence on the ongoing needs of cancer survivors. Br J Cancer. 2011;105(Suppl1:S1-4).
- 40. Sikorskii A, Given CW, Given B. Symptom management for cancer patients: a trial comparing two multimodal interventions. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2007;34(3):253-264.
- 41. Badger TA, Braden CJ, Mishel MH. Depression burden, self help intervnetions and side effect experience in women receiving treatment for breast cancer. Oncol Nur Forum. 2001;28(3):567-574.
- 42. Miaskowski C, Dodd M, West C ea. Randomized clinical trial of the effectivenss of a self care intervention to improve cancer pain management. J Clin Oncology. 2004;22(9):1713-1720.
- 43. Given C, Given B, et al. Effect of a cognitive behavioral intervention on reducing symptom severity during chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(3):507-16.
- 44. Dodd MJ, Miaskowski C. The pro-self program: a self-care intervention program for patients receiving cancer treatment. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2000;164(4):300-8.
- 45. Baumann FT, Zoph EM, Bloch W. Clinical exercise interventions in prostate cancer patients -- a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Support Care Cancer. 2011;20(2):221-233.
- 46. Goode PS, Burgio KL, et al. Behavioral Therapy With or Without Biofeecback and Pelvic Floor Electrical Stimulation for Persistent Postprostatectomy Incontinence. JAMA. 2011;305(2):151-59.
- 47. Kenfield SA, Stampfer MJ, et al. Physical activity and survival after prostate cancer diagnosis in the health professionals follow-up study. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(6):726-32.
- 48 .Meldrum DR, Gambone JC, Morris MA, Ignarro LJ. A multifaceted approach to maximize erectile function and vascular health. Fertil Steril. 2010;94(7):2514-2520.
- 49. National Cancer Institute. http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/supportivecare/gastrointestinalcomplications/HealthProfessional/50.Skolarus TA, Holmes-Rovner M, , et al. Primary care perspectives on prostate cancer survivorship: implications for improving quality of care. Urol Oncol. 2011:Epub ahead of print.
- 51. Messer KL, Hines SH, et al. Self-efficacy as a predictor to PFMT adherence in a prevention of urinary incontinence clinical trial. Health Educ Behav. 2007;34(6):942-52.
- 52. Goode PS, Burgio KL, Johnson TM, 2nd, et al. Behavioral therapy with or without biofeedback and pelvic floor electrical stimulation for persistent postprostatectomy incontinence: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. Jan 12 2011;305(2):151-159.
- 53 .Ribeiro LH, Prota C, Gomes CM, et al. Long-term effect of early postoperative pelvic floor biofeedback on continence in men undergoing radical prostatectomy: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. J Urol. Sep 2010;184(3):1034-1039.
- 54. Hunter KF, Glazener CM, Moore KN. Conservative management for postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007(2):CD001843.
- 55. Dougherty MC, Dwyer JW, Pendergast JF, et al. A randomized trial of behavioral management for continence with older rural women. Res Nurs Health. Feb 2002;25(1):3-13.
- 56. Wallace SA, Roe B, Williams K, Palmer M. Bladder training for urinary incontinence in adults. Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online). 2004(1):CD001308.
- 57. Milne JL. Behavioral therapies at the primary care level: the current state of knowledge. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs. Nov-Dec 2004;31(6):367-376; quiz 377-368.
- 58. Wolin K, Luly J, Sutcliffe S, Andriole G, Kibel A. Risk of urinary incontinence following prostatectomy: the role of physical activity and obesity. The Journal of urology. 2010;183(2):629-633.
- 59. Subak LL, Johnson C, Whitcomb E, et al.. Does weight loss improve incontinence in moderately obese women? Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2002;13(1):40-43.
- 60. Arya LA, Myers DL, Jackson ND. Dietary caffeine intake and the risk for detrusor instability: a case-control study. Obstet Gynecol. 2000;96(1):85-89.
- 61. Campbell SE, Glazener CM, Hunter KF, et al. Conservative management for postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Online). 2012;1:CD001843.
- 62. Fader M, Cottenden A, Getliffe K, et al. Absorbent products for urinary/faecal incontinence: a comparative evaluation of key product designs. Health Technol Assess. Jul 2008;12(29):iii-iv, ix-185.
- 63. Manne SL, Kissane DW, Nelson CJ, et al. Intimacy-Enhancing Psychological Intervention for Men Diagnosed with Prostate Cancer and Their Partners: A Pilot Study. J Sexual Med. 2011;8(4):1197-1209.
- 64. Manne S. Restoring Intimacy in Relationships Affected by Cancer. Curr Clin Urol. 2011:739-750.
- 65. Manne S, Kissane D, Zaider T, Nelson C, Winkel G. Intimacy-Enhancing Intervention for Couples Coping with Localized Prostate Cancer. Annals of Behavioral Medicine. Apr 2010;39:116-116.
- 66. Brotto LA, Yule M, Breckon E. Psychological interventions for the sexual sequelae of cancer: a review of the literature. J Cancer Surviv. Dec 2010;4(4):346-360.
- 67. Manne S, Badr H. Intimacy and relationship processes in couples' psychosocial adaptation to cancer. Cancer. Jun 1 2008;112(11 Suppl):2541-2555.
- 68. Manne S, Ostroff J, Rini C, et al. The interpersonal process model of intimacy: The role of self-disclosure, partner disclosure, and partner responsiveness in interactions between breast cancer patients and their partners. J Fam Psychol. Dec 2004;18(4):589-599.
- 69. Mehta A, Deveci S, Mulhall JP. Efficacy of a penile variable tension loop for improving climacturia after radical prostatectomy. BJU Int. Jun 6 2012.
- 70. Fenner A. Prostate cancer: postprostatectomy climacturia. Nat Rev Urol. Sep 2011;8(9):473.
- 71. Sighinolfi MC, Rivalta M, et al. Potential effectiveness of pelvic floor rehabilitation treatment for postradical prostatectomy incontinence, climacturia, and erectile dysfunction: a case series. The journal of sexual medicine. Dec 2009;6(12):3496-3499.
- 72. Harte CB, Meston CM. Association between smoking cessation and sexual health in men. BJU Int. Mar 2012;109(6):888-896.

- 73. Meldrum DR, Gambone JC, Morris MA, et al. Lifestyle and metabolic approaches to maximizing erectile and vascular health. International journal of impotence research. Mar-Apr 2012;24(2):61-68.
- 74. Engel JD. Effect on sexual function of a vacuum erection device post-prostatectomy. Canadian Journal of Urology. 2011;18(3):5721-5725.
- 75. Raina R, Pahlajani G, Agarwal A, et al. Long-term potency after early use of a vacuum erection device following radical prostatectomy. BJU Int. Dec 2010;106(11):1719-1722.
- 76. Dalkin BL, Christopher BA. Preservation of penile length after radical prostatectomy: early intervention with a vacuum erection device. International journal of impotence research. Sep-Oct 2007;19(5):501-504.
- 77. Hellstrom WJ, Montague DK,, et al. Implants, mechanical devices, and vascular surgery for erectile dysfunction. Journal of Sexual Medicine. 2010;7(1 (Part 2)):501-523.
- 78. Norton C, Cody JD. Biofeedback and/or sphincter exercises for the treatment of faecal incontinence in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;7.
- 79. Mishra SI, Scherer RW, et al. Exercise interventions on health-related quality of life for people with cancer during active treatment. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;8.
- 80. Gibson RJ, Keefe DM, Lalla RV, al el. Systematic review of agents for the management of gastrointestinal mucositis in cancer patients. Support Care Cancer. 2012;21(1):313-326.
- 81. Konturek PC, Brzozowski T, Konturek SJ. Stress and the gut: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, diagnostic approach and treatment options. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2011;62(6):591-599.
- 82. Savard J, Hervouet S, Ivers H. Prostate cancer treatments and their side effects are associated with increased insomnia. Psychooncology. 2012(Epub ahead of print.).
- 83. Segal RJ, Reid RD, Courneya KS, et al. Resistance exercise in men receiving androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(9):1653-1659.
- 84. Davies NJ, Batehup L, Thomas R. The role of diet and physical activity in breast, colorectal, and prostate cancer survivorship: a review of the literature. Br J Cancer. 2011;105(Suppl 1):S52-73.
- 85. Morrow PKH, Mattair DN, Hortobagyi GN. Hot flashes: a review of pathphysiology and treatment modalities. Oncologist. 2011;16(11):1658-1664.
- 86. Dobs A, Darkes MJ. Incidence and management of gynecomastia in men treated for prostate cancer. J Urol. 2005;174(5):1737-42.
- 87. Cooper GS, Johnson CC, et al. Use of guideline recommended follow-up care in cancer survivors: routine or diagnostic indications? Med Care. 2006;44(6):590-596.
- 88. Penson DF. Quality of life following prostate cancer treatment. Curr Urol Rep. 2000;1(1):71-77.
- 89. Valdivieso M, Kujawa AM, et al. Cancer survivors in the United States: a review of the literasture and a call to action. Int J Med Sci. 2012;9(2):163-173.
- 90. Ganz PA. Survivorship: adult cancer survivors. Prim Care. Dec 2009;36(4):721-741.
- 91. Foster C, Fenion D. Recovery and self-management support following primary cancer treatment. British Journal of Cancer. 2011(105L):S21-S28.
- 92. Bandura A. Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. American Psychologist. 1982;37(2):122-147.
- 93. Bandura A. Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall; 1977.
- 94. Anderson M, Funnell MM. Empowerment and Self-Management of Diabetes. Clinical Diabetes. 2004;22(3):123-127.
- 95.Arnold MS, Butler PM, et al. Guidelines for facilitating a patient empowerment program. Diabetes Educ. 1995(21):308-312.
- 96. Turk DC, Meichenbaum D, et al. Pain and behavioral medicine: a cognitive behavioral approach. NY, NY: Guilford Press; 1983.
- 97. Piette JD, Richardson C, Himle J, et al. A randomized trial of telephonic counseling plus walking for depressed diabetes patients. Med Care. 2011;49(7):641-648.
- 98. Piette JD. Use of CBT in a walking program for veterans with diabetes and depression. Psychiatr Serv. 2005;56(3):355.
- 99. Price JR. Couper J. Cognitive behavior therapy for adults with chronic fatigue syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2000.
- 100. Hawley ST, Griggs JJ, et al. Decision involvement and receipt of mastectomy among racially and ethnically diverse breast cancer patients. JNCI 2009;101(19):1337-1347.
- 101. Katz SJ, Hawley ST, Abrahamse P, et al. Does it matter where you go for breast surgery?: attending surgeon's influence on variation in receipt of mastectomy for breast cancer. Med Care. 2010;48(10):892-899.
- 102. Hawley ST, Janz NK, et al. Perceptions of care coordination in a population-based sample of diverse breast cancer patients. Patient Educ Couns. 2010;81(Supplement):S34-40.
- 103. Hawley ST, Janz NK, Hamilton A, et al. Latina patient perspectives about informed treatment decision making for breast cancer. Patient Educ Couns. 2008;73(2):363-370.
- 104. Janz NK, Mujahid MS, Hawley ST, et al. Racial/ethnic differences in quality of life after diagnosis of breast cancer. J Cancer Surviv. 2009;3(4):212-222.
- 105. Janz NK, Mujahid M, et al. Symptom experience and quality of life of women following breast cancer treatment. Journal of Women's Health. 2007;16(9):1348-1361.
- 106. Chang P, Szymanski KM, et al. Expanded prostate cancer index composite for clinical practice: development and validation of a practical health related quality of life instrument for use in the routine clinical care of patients with prostate cancer. J Urol. 2011;186(3):865-872.
- 107. Szymanski KM, Wei JT, et al. Development and validation of an abbreviated version of the expanded prostate cancer index composite instrument for measuring health-related quality of life among prostate cancer survivors. Urology. 2010;76(5):1245-1250.
- 108. Wei JT, Dunn RL, et al. Development and validation of the expanded prostate cancer index composite (EPIC) for comprehensive assessment of health-related quality of life in men with prostate cancer. Urology. Dec 20 2000;56(6):899-905.
- 109. Wei JT, Montie JE. Comparison of patients' and physicians' rating of urinary incontinence following radical prostatectomy. Semin Urol Oncol. Feb 2000;18(1):76-80.
- 110. Skolarus TA, Holmes-Rovner M, Hawley ST, et al. Monitoring quality of life among prostate cancer survivors: the feasibility of automated telephone assessment. Urology. 2012;80(5):1021-1026.

- 111. Resnicow K, Davis RE, Zhang G, et al. Tailoring a fruit and vegetable intervention on novel motivational constructs: results of a randomized study. Annals of Behavioral Medicine. 2008;35(2):159-169.
- 112. Resnicow K, Davis RE, et al. Tailoring a fruit and vegetable intervention on ethnic identity: results of a randomized study. Health Psychology. 2009;28(4):394-403.
- 113. Hawkins RP, Kreuter MW, et al. Understanding tailoring in communicating about health. Health Educ Res. 2008;23(3):454-66.
- 114. Zickuhr K. Smith A. Digital differences, Washington, DC: Pew Internet & American Life Project: 2012.
- 115. Heisler M, Piette JD. "I help you, and you help me": facilitated telephone peer support among patients with diabetes. Diabetes Educ. Nov-Dec 2005;31(6):869-879.
- 116. Piette JD, al e. Engagement with automated patient monitoring and self-management support calls. Experience with 1000 chronically ill patients. In process. 2012.
- 117. Piette JD. IIVR Systems in the Diagnosis and Management of Chronic Disease. Am J Manag Care. 2000;6:817-827.
- 118. Piette JD, Holtz B, Beard AJ, et al. Improving chronic illness care for veterans within the framework of the Patient-Centered Medical Home: experiences from the Ann Arbor Patient-Aligned Care Team Laboratory. Translational Behavioral Medicine. 2011;1(4):615-623.
- 119. Patient Aligned Care Team (PACT). Patient-Centered Medical Home Concept Paper. In: Affairs USDoV, ed. Wash, DC2010`.
- 120. American College of Physicians. The advanced medical home: a patient-centered, physician-guided model of health care. 2006; http://www.hhs.gov/healthit/ahic/materials/meeting03/cc/ACP_Initiative.pdf. Accessed March 23, 2012.
- 121. Michigan Cancer Consortium Prostate Cancer Action Committee. Guidelines for Primary Care Management of Prostate Cancer Post-Treatment Sequelae. 2009; http://www.michigancancer.org/PDFs/MCCGuidelines-PrimaryCareMgtProstateCaPost-TxSequelae.pdf. Accessed Nov 29, 2012.
- 122. Hawley ST, Larkin A, Partin M, et al. The effect of a preference-tailored decision tool on CRC screening adherence in the VA. National VA HSR&D Meeting. Rockville, MD2012.
- 123. Kreuter MW, Strecher VJ, Glassman B. One size does not fit all: the case for tailoring print materials. Annals of Behavioral Medicine. 1999;21(4):276-283.
- 124. Richards KC, Enderlin CA, et al. Tailored biobehavioral interventions: a literature review and synthesis. Res Theory Nurs Pract. 2007;21(4):271-285.
- 125. Noar SM, Benac CN, Harris MS. Does tailoring matter? Meta-analytic review of tailored print health behavior change interventions. Psychological Bulletin. 2007;133(4):673-693.
- 126. Strecher VJ. Internet methods for delivering behavioral and health-related interventions (eHealth). Ann Rev Clin Psych. 2007;3:53-
- 127. Kroeze W, Werkman A, Brug J. A systematic review of randomized trials on the effectiveness of computer-tailored education on physical activity and dietary behaviors. Annals Behav Med. 2006;31(3):205-223.
- 128. Smeets T. Kremers SPJ. et al. Effects of tailored feedback on multiple health behaviors. Annals Behav Med. 2007;33(2):117-123.
- 129. Gibbons MC, Wilson RF, Samal L, et al. Impact of Consumer Health Informatics Applications. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, U.S. Department of Health & Human Services:2009.
- 130. Green MC. Narratives and cancer communication. Journal of Communication. 2006;56:S163-S183.
- 131. Kreuter MW, Green MC, Cappella JN, et al. Narrative communication in cancer prevention and control: a framework to guide research and application. Ann Behav Med. 2007;33(3):221-235.
- 132. Strecher VJ, McClure JB, Alexander GL, et al. Web-based smoking-cessation programs: results of a randomized trial. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2008;34(5):373-381.
- 133. Strecher VJ, Greenwood T, et al. Interactive multimedia and risk communication. JNCI, Monographs. 1999;25:134-139.
- 134. Strecher VJ, Bishop KR, et al.. Quit for keeps: tailored smoking cessation guides for pregnancy and beyond. Tobacco Control. 2000;9(Suppl 3):11178-79.
- 135. Strecher VJ, Shiffman S, West R. Randomized controlled trial of a web-based computer-tailored smoking cessation program as asupplement to nicotine patch therapy. Addition. 2005;100(5):682-688.
- 136. Janz NK, Mujahid M, Hawley ST, et al. Racial/ethnic differences in adequacy of information and support for women with breastcancer. Cancer 2008;113(5):1058-1067.
- 137. Sanda MG, Dunn RL, et al. Quality of Life and Satisfaction with Outcome Among Prostate Cancer Survivors. NEJM. 2008;358:1250-61.
- 138. Dunn RL, Sanda MG, Wei JT. Minimally Important Difference for the Expanded Prostate Cancer Index Composite (EPIC). International Society for Quality of Life Research. New Orleans, Lousiana 2009:A-98.
- 139.Litwin MS, Hayes RD, et al. The UCLA Prostate Cancer Index: development, reliability, and validity of a health-related quality of life measure. Med Care. 1998 Jul;36(7):1002-12.
- 140.UCLA. Urology at UCLA. http://urology.ucla.edu/body.cfm?id=152, 2012.
- 141.Lin YH, Yu TJ, Lin VC, Yang MS, Kao CC. Changes in quality of life among prostate cancer patients after surgery. Cancer Nurs. 2012;35(6):476-482.
- 142.Ball AJ, Gambill B, Fabrizio MD, et al. Prospective longitudinal comparative study of early health-related quality-of-life outcomes in patients undergoing surgical treatment for localized prostate cancer: a short-term evaluation of five approaches from a single institution. J Endourol. 2006;20(10):723-731.
- 143. Hanlon AL, Watkins BD, Peter R, et al. Quality of life study in prostate cancer patients treated with three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy: comparing late bowel and bladder quality of life symptoms to that of the normal population. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001;49(1):5a9.
- 144. Greenfield S, Cretin S, Worthman LG, et al. Comparison of a Criteria Map to a Criteria List in Quality-of-Care Assessment for Patients with Chest Pain: The Relation of Each to Outcome. Med Care. 1981;19(3):255-272.
- 145.Greenfield S, Worthman LG, et al. Quality assessment by the criteria mapping method. Top Health Rec Manage. 1980;1(2):37-44. 146.Lachin JM. Statistical Considerations in the Intent-to-Treat Principle. Controlled Clinical Trials. 2000;21(3):167-189.

- 147.Little R, Rubin DB. Causal effects in clinical and epidemiological studies via potential outcomes: concepts and analytical approaches. Annual Review of Public Health. 2000;21(1):121-145.
- 148. MacKinnon DP, Dwyer JH. Estimating mediated effects in prevention studies. Eval Review 1993;17(2):144-58.
- 149. Curran GM, Bauer M, Mittman B, et al. Effectiveness-implementation hybrid designs: combining elements of clinical effectiveness and implementation research to ehnance public health impact. Med Care. 2012;50(3):217-226.
- 150.Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, et al. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implement Sci. 2009;4:50.